IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1434

LOWER COURT NO. CF01-03262A-XX

NELSON SERRANO,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARCIA J. SILVERS, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 342459 Marcia J. Silvers, P.A. 2937 Southwest 27th Avenue, Suite

)1

Miami, Florida 33133 Telephone: 305/774-1544 Facsimile: 305/446-6150 marciasilverspa@aol.com

Counsel for Appellant

101

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal comes to this Court from a sentence of death imposed by the trial court. The Appellant, Nelson Serrano, will be referred to by his proper name. The Appellee, the State of Florida, will be referred to as the "State."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nelson Serrano, was indicted by the Grand Jury, in and for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Polk County, Florida, on May 17, 2001, with four counts of First-Degree Murder, contrary to § 782.04 and § 775.087 Florida Statutes, in the deaths of George Gonsalves, Frank Dosso, George Patisso and Diane Patisso on December 3, 1997. The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty. (R163)

A jury trial was held on September 5 through October 11, 2006, before the Honorable Susan W. Roberts, Circuit Judge. The jury returned a verdict of guilty of First-Degree Murder on all counts. (R1406-09)

The penalty phase was conducted on October 23-24, 2006. The jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 9-3 on each count. (R1500-03)

Following the penalty phase, both the defense and State submitted sentencing memoranda for the court's consideration. (R2455-58) (State); (R2452-54) (Defense). The trial court conducted a *Spencer* hearing on January 2-3, 2007.

The trial court imposed sentence on June 26, 2007. (R2506). On each of the counts, the trial court found the aggravating circumstance of murder committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (great weight), prior violent or capital felony conviction for the contemporaneous crime in this case (great weight) and murder committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest (as to Diane Patisso only) (great weight). The trial court found the following mitigation: no prior criminal history (great weight), age at the time of the crime (age 59) (moderate weight), significant history of good works (moderate weight), successful Hispanic immigrant (moderate weight), positive religious involvement (some weight), no history of alcohol or drug abuse (some weight), good social history (moderate weight), good employment history (some weight), good school performance (moderate weight), good father (some weight), good husband (some weight), positive behavior during pretrial incarceration (some weight), positive behavior during court appearances (some weight), significant stressors at the time of the incident (moderate weight), remorse (slight weight). (R2509-15)

The trial court imposed a sentence of death on all counts. (R2506). The written sentencing order was filed on June 26, 2007. (R2509-15).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Introduction

This case stems from four murders that occurred on December 3, 1997 between 5:20 and 5:45 p.m. at a business called Erie Manufacturing and Garment Conveyor Systems (hereinafter "Erie") located in an industrial park in Bartow, Florida. (T2886-89) Mr. Serrano was over 500 miles away that day in an Atlanta hotel. Indeed, it is undisputed that an Atlanta businessman met with Mr. Serrano that day until 11 a.m. Also, hotel videotape footage shows Mr. Serrano in the Atlanta hotel lobby that day at 12:19 p.m. and at 10:17 p.m. In addition, airline and hotel records show that Mr. Serrano traveled to Atlanta the day before the murders and left there the morning after the murders.

The prosecution's theory was that, from 12:19 p.m. until 10:17 p.m., Mr. Serrano could have traveled on a commercial airline from Atlanta to Orlando under a false name, driven 80 miles to Bartow in a rental car in rush hour traffic, shot four people at close range, driven 50 miles in a rental car in rush hour traffic to Tampa, flown back to Atlanta under a different false name via a commercial airline and driven back to his Atlanta hotel.

The defense maintained that the prosecution's theory was preposterous for a number of reasons. First, there was not enough time for Mr. Serrano to have done all of these things and to have arrived at his hotel at 10:17 p.m. Furthermore, not a single witness was found who saw Mr. Serrano leave the hotel, drive to the airport,

park there or get on the planes. No airport videotapes showed Mr. Serrano anywhere near the Atlanta, Orlando or Tampa airports that day.

Moreover, there was not a scintilla of forensic evidence that linked Mr. Serrano to the crime scene. Although law enforcement officers conducted forensic searches of the crime scene, the rented automobile allegedly driven by Mr. Serrano on the day of the crimes and Mr. Serrano's house, they found no incriminating evidence linking Mr. Serrano to the crime scene and no evidence linking the rental car to that scene. In addition, two handguns were used in the murders suggesting that there were two shooters - not one - as the prosecution contended. Neither of the guns was ever found.

Trial Evidence

In 1962, Felice "Phil" Dosso and George Gonsalves formed a business in New York, Erie Manufacturing Corporation, that made parts for various industries. Erie Manufacturing Corporation gradually evolved into a company that specialized in making parts for the garment industry in New York. (T3483-86)

In the mid-1980s, Mr. Serrano was in the business of designing, selling and installing garment conveyor systems called slick rail systems. During that time, Mr Serrano, Phil Dosso and George Gonsalves met and together they created a new and separate company, Garment Conveyor Systems, (hereinafter "Garment") that designed, installed and sold slick rail systems for the garment industry. They

were equal partners in that company with differing responsibilities. Mr. Serrano was responsible for designing, installing and selling the slick rail systems and Dosso and Gonsalves were responsible for manufacturing those systems. (T3182-88, 3362, 3486-93, 3598)

In about the late 1980s, the three men moved their business to an industrial park in Bartow, Florida. They closed Erie Manufacturing Corporation and transferred all of the assets to Erie Manufacturing, Inc. (hereinafter "Erie"). At that time, Mr. Serrano became an equal partner in Erie with Dosso and Gonsalves with each of them earning equal salaries. In return, according to Phil Dosso, Mr. Serrano orally agreed to pay Dosso and Gonsalves \$75,000 each. The three men remained equal partners in Garment of which Mr. Serrano was the President and CEO. Together the three men purchased the land in Bartow on which the Erie/Garment building was built. This land was owned equally by the three men and their wives. (T3495-3503)

In 1990, Mr. Serrano's son, Francisco Serrano, became Director of Operations of Erie and Garment. (T4141-43) In about 1996, Phil Dosso's son, Frank Dosso, became Director of Operations of Erie and Francisco Serrano remained on as Director of Operations of Garment. (T4144-45)

Phil Dosso claimed that Mr. Serrano never paid him or Gonsalves the \$75,000 he orally agreed to pay them in the mid-80's and this caused friction

between the partners. (T3504-05) However, in reality, this amount of money was incidental compared to the large revenues that Mr. Serrano brought into Erie/Garment. Indeed, in 1994, Mr. Serrano was responsible for bringing in J.C. Penney as a client which significantly increased the companies' revenue. In 1996, the companies had nine million dollars in sales. That year, each of the three partners received a salary of \$350,000 plus close to a million dollars each in bonuses. (T3601-02, 4152-56)

Francisco Serrano testified that, although the three partners had their differences, in 1996, most of them seemed to have been resolved with the help of an attorney and an accountant and things seemed to be fairly amicable between the partners in 1996 until the Spring of 1997, when Francisco Serrano discovered that there were two sets of accounting books for Erie/Garment. Francisco Serrano told Phil and Frank Dosso and George Gonsalves about the improper double books. They claimed that the extra set of books was "for practicing." Subsequently, in late Spring 1997, Francisco Serrano discovered that about one million dollars was missing from the Erie/Garment accounts. Francisco and Nelson Serrano met with Phil Dosso and George Gonsalves about the missing money. Francisco Serrano testified that Dosso and Gonsalves acknowledged that they had something to do with the missing money but they would not disclose what they had done with it. An attorney for Erie/Garment, Mr. Atkins, advised the Serranos to report the

missing money to the Internal Revenue Service and they did so. (T4103-04, 4148-4159)

Shortly thereafter, on May 28, 1997, when Mr. Serrano was out-of-town on business, Phil Dosso and George Gonsalves attempted to fire Francisco Serrano but could not do so because Nelson Serrano was the President of Garment at the time. Francisco Serrano testified that he asked Dosso and Gonsalves why they wanted to fire him but they would not answer him. (T4161-62, EV967)

Phil Dosso claimed that he and Gonsalves fired Francisco Serrano because Francisco Serrano started his own import/export company and was doing work for that company while on Erie's time. (T3505-09) However, Francisco Serrano testified that it was 1991 - many years before Phil Dosso and Gonsalves fired him - that Phil Dosso and Gonsalves talked to him about his import/export company and, at the time he was fired, his import/export company had long ceased to exist. (T 4168-69)

On June 16, 1997, after Mr. Serrano learned about the missing money, Mr. Serrano, through an attorney, filed a lawsuit against Dosso and Gonsalves. (T4173-74, 4691-92, 4700-01, 4707-20) That same day, in an effort to protect the company money from possible theft by Dosso and Gonsalves, Mr. Serrano opened a new business checking account under Garment's name at a different bank and deposited a check to Garment from J.C. Penney in the amount of \$132,655.30. Mr.

Serrano told the bank officer that there was a dispute with his Garment business partners regarding their fraudulent activity. On June 17, 1997, Mr. Serrano deposited another check to Garment for \$140,000 into the new account. Mr. Garment never spent a dime of this money. (T4433-71) Phil Dosso testified that the opening of this new account caused added tension between the three partners. (T3547-49)

On June 23, 1997, at a Garment board of director's meeting attended by the three partners, Phil Dosso and Gonsalves voted to remove Mr. Serrano as the President of Garment, make Phil Dosso the new President of Garment and have only themselves as authorized signatories on Garment's bank accounts. (T3594-95, 3606, EV762-63) After becoming the President of Garment, Dosso immediately fired Francisco Serrano. (T 4172-73)

Soon thereafter, Dosso and Gonsalves had all of the locks changed at Erie/Garment. (T 3606) Since Mr. Serrano still owned one-third of Erie/Garment and he and his wife still owned one-third of the Erie/Garment property, he called the police upon learning that the locks had been changed. However, he ultimately decided to leave, create a new slick rail company and and pursue a resolution of the Erie/Garment issues via the civil lawsuit he filed. (T 3367-69, 3606, 4075-76, 4172-75, 4343)

Various employees of Erie/Garment testified that, while Mr. Serrano was at Erie/Garment, Mr. Serrano got along with Phil Dosso but that he had arguments with Gonsalves. (T3194, 4210-11) However, as one Erie/Garment employee testified, Gonsalves frequently got into arguments with lots of Erie/Garment employees because Gonsalves was obnoxious and often spoke to people in a mean manner. (T4228-30) According to Phil Dosso, sometime around 1995 or 1996, Mr. Serrano, in the presence of Phil Dosso and Francisco Serrano, told Gonsalves that he gets so mad at him that he feels like killing him. However, Dosso and Gonsalves obviously did not view this statement as a serious threat because they continued to work with Mr. Serrano as their partner and the President of Garment *for at least one year afterwards*. (T3530)

On December 3, 1997, there were about 50 employees at Erie/Garment. At about 5:00 p.m. that day, Frank Dosso's wife spoke to Frank Dosso on the phone and he was at work at Erie/Garment. Based upon that telephone conversation, she expected him to be home by 5:30 p.m. (T3452)

Many Erie/Garment employees clocked out from work that day shortly after 5:00 p.m. while Gonsalves, Frank Dosso and George Patisso (Phil Dosso's son-in-law who was an Erie employee), remained behind. (T 3211-14, 3264, 3307-12). David Catalan, a bookkeeper there, clocked out at 5:05 p.m. that day. (T 3210-13) He and another employee, Mrs. Stephens, were the last employees to leave the

building. Catalan testified that, when he left, he checked the doors to ensure that they were locked and that he told the police that he had done so. (T3227, 3231, 3240-41)

Diane Patisso, who was Phil Dosso's daughter and George Patisso's wife, had plans to pick up Frank Dosso and George Patisso at Erie/Garment that day and take them to Frank Dosso's house for a family party. (T3427-33, 3450-53) Diane Patisso left work between 5:15 and 5:20 p.m. that day and drove a short distance to Erie/Garment to pick them up. At 5:45 p.m., Frank Dosso's wife called Erie/Garment but there was no answer. She also called Frank Dosso's cell phone but there was also no answer. (T 3452-53) Phil Dosso and his wife, Nicoletta Dosso, also tried calling Erie/ Garment without success and then drove to Erie/Garment to find out what had happened. (T 3434-35)

Phil and Nicoletta Dosso testified that, when they arrived at Erie/Garment, the front door was unlocked, and as they entered, they discovered the deceased body of their daughter, Diane Patisso, in a doorway in a pool of blood. Her body could be seen from the front door as soon as they entered. Phil Dosso called 911 at 7:34 p.m. He then discovered the deceased bodies of Gonsalves, George Patisso, his son-in-law and Frank Dosso, his son, in Frank Dosso's office (formerly Mr. Serrano's office when he worked there). (T2884, 3218, 3434, 3437-38, 3559-81, 3585-86)

The Dossos were inside the building when the first police officer, Officer James Christian, arrived. The Dossos went into many rooms at the crime scene, including Frank Dosso's office. Nicoletta Dosso was covered in blood and Officer Christian saw her touching Diane Patisso. (T2862-69, 2913, 3575) Several police officers testified that there was so much blood in Frank Dosso's office and in the area where Diane Patisso was shot, including blood smears on the wall and splattered blood, that it was difficult to avoid coming into contact with it. (T2903, 3017-18)

All of the victims were shot multiple times in the head and some were also shot elsewhere. (T3955-68, 3975-4042) Two different guns were used - a.22 caliber semi-automatic gun and a .32 caliber semi-automatic handgun - suggesting that there were two shooters. (T3616-46) Neither of the guns was ever found. (T3646) The men were shot with the .22 caliber semi-automatic gun. (T3631-33, 3976-81, 4009-13, 4014-25) Diane Patisso was shot once with the same .22 caliber semi-automatic gun used to shoot the men and once with the .32 caliber gun. (T4026-31)

According to the testimony of Leroy Parker, the State's bloodstain pattern analysis expert, the three men were shot in a manner that is consistent with execution-style killings. More specifically, Parker testified that Gonsalves was on his knees when he was shot. George Patisso was shot at close range with his head

only two inches from the floor. (T3889, 3896, 3904-05, 3976-81) The blood in the office where the three men were shot was all near the floor indicating that they were all told to kneel on the floor. There was no blood anywhere that was as high as a desk top. (T3126-27) Parker concluded that George Patisso was definitely shot before Gonsalves but he could not make any other conclusions as to the sequence in which the four individuals were shot. Frank Dosso had bullet wounds to his hand and arm indicating a "defensive mechanism." (T3901, 3905, 3919) Parker also concluded that Diane Patisso was standing up when she was shot. (T3922) In Parker's expert opinion, the shooter or shooters would have had blood on them from the back splatter. (T3917-18)

There was no forensic evidence linking Mr.Serrano to the crime scene. (T 3779) Inside Erie/Garment, law enforcement officers found eleven .22 caliber shell casings and one .32 caliber shell casing. (T2962-64) The .32 caliber casing was found in an office near Diane Patisso's body. (T2965-72, 2978, 3016, 3136-37) None of these casings were linked to Mr. Serrano in any way. (T3028-29, 3041) There were no fingerprints belonging to Mr. Serrano inside Erie/Garment. At the crime scene, law enforcement officials found 13 fingerprints that could not be matched to anyone. Law enforcement officials compared these unidentified fingerprints to every Erie/Garment employee, Mr. Serrano and the deceased. However, no one testified that these unidentified fingerprints were ever compared

to any official fingerprint database (T3035-37, 3045-51, 3070-71, 3156-59, 3302-03)

Law enforcement officers found no sign of a forced entry on any of the doors that were a point of entry into the Erie/Garment building. (T2993-97) As previously explained, the locks to these doors were changed after Mr. Serrano left.

Near Diane Patisso's body, law enforcement officers found a plastic glove that did not belong there. (T3008, 313) In 1997, Theodore Yeshion, a DNA expert with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement subjected the glove to the type of DNA testing that was then in existence, PCR testing, and found no DNA to test on it. Yeshion testified that, at the time of the trial in this case which was held over eight years later, DNA science had developed to such a degree that it was possible that new types of DNA testing known as STR and mitochondrial DNA testing could extract a DNA profile from the glove. However, although the glove was obviously left at the crime scene by the perpetrator, the State *never* sought to retest the glove for DNA utilizing this new STR or mitochondrial DNA testing. (T4792-4807)

On the evening of the incident, law enforcement officers also found two fresh cigarette butts located close together in the Erie/Garment parking lot. (T2999-3001) These two cigarette butts were subjected to DNA testing and a DNA profile was extracted from one of them. No people in the world except identical twins

share the same DNA profile. Nevertheless, the State only asked Yeshion to compare this DNA profile to Phil and Nicoletta Dosso and the four victims. The State never sought to compare this DNA profile to Mr. Serrano or to any DNA databases, although that would have been the logical thing to do unless the State feared that the results would show that its theory of prosecution was wrong. (T4807-13)

There was evidence that the motive for the shootings was robbery. There were no wristwatches found on any of the three men who were killed. Blood on Frank Dosso's arm showed an outline of his Rolex wristwatch which had been stolen from him after he was shot. George Patisso had been wearing a gold neck chain that was also stolen by the perpetrator. Frank Dosso's pants pocket was partially pulled out. Frank Dosso's office and several offices near it were in complete disarray with drawers and file cabinets left open and papers and other items strewn all over the floors. (T3010-11, 3013-15, 3018-19, 3035-37, 3043-45, 3152, 3219-20, 3246, 3680, 3831, 3920, 4297-98, 5882) A detective in this case testified that someone targeting the business for a robbery would not know that the business did not have a lot of cash on hand. (T3832-34)

Leroy Parker, the State's expert in bloodstain analysis, testified that whoever removed Frank Dosso's watch would have had blood transferred to his hands and possibly elsewhere. (T3919-21)

Notably, a detective in this case testified that he interviewed an Erie/Garment employee about possible suspects in this case and she told him about two Hispanic men. Defense counsel questioned the detective about the fact that this employee told him that these men came to Erie/Garment on the day of the murders seeking employment and their behavior was weird. (T3815-16, 6229-30) The detective further testified that a man who worked near Erie/Garment reported that he saw an African-American male and a blue vehicle at Erie/Garment at the time of the murders and heard a gunshot. (T3811-13) The detective additionally testified that, several times on the day of the murders, a Ford Thunderbird driven by a man who was 30 to 35 years old drove slowly past Erie and a police officer tried to stop the vehicle but it got away. (T3814)

In Frank Dosso's office, there was a ceiling tile that was "*slightly* displaced." (T3154) Under it, there was a blue vinyl chair with some dusty shoe prints on the seat. (T2980, 3038, 3118-24, 4385) David Catalan, an Erie/Garment employee testified that, in early 1996, he saw Mr. Serrano in his office standing on a chair taking papers out of the ceiling by removing a ceiling tile. On that occasion, Mr. Serrano showed him a large handgun that he owned. Catalan testified that he only saw Mr. Serrano taking papers out of the ceiling - not the handgun. (T3221-25) Catalan further testified that the handgun was in a box. (T3245) An Erie/Garment employee, Velma Ellis, who had been a close friend of Frank Dosso, testified that,

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