IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NELSON SERRANO,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-1434 Lower Tribunal No. CF01-03262A-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0014087 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 stephen.ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

remain silent, the lower court properly found that, under the totality of the circumstances, Appellant waived his right to remain silent. After boarding the flight and being advised of his Miranda rights, Appellant indicated that he had "nothing to say at this time." As the trial court properly found after hearing all the testimony, Agent Ray "scrupulously honored" Appellant's request to remain silent, but after sitting next to agent Ray on the commercial flight to Miami for approximately an hour and a half, Appellant initiated conversation "on a matter related to this case and talked freely to Officer Ray until the point he said they were starting talk business." Because the trial court properly applied the applicable law to this issue and the facts support the trial court's finding, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion to suppress.

Even if this Court were to find that the trial court erred in allowing the statements, the error was harmless. See Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 111 S. Ct. 1246 (1991) (holding that the admission of a coerced confession is subject to harmless error analysis); State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). In this case, the State introduced Appellant's statements to agent Ray that were generally exculpatory in nature and cumulative to other evidence introduced during the

State's case-in-chief. Appellant asserts that there can be no finding of harmless error because Appellant informed agent Ray that, while working at Erie, he would hide a firearm in the ceiling while out of town on business, and this information contributed to his conviction. However, the jury heard evidence from David Catalan that he observed Appellant at Erie one evening with a gun in his office, and Appellant was standing on a chair, moving a ceiling tile, to get papers out of the ceiling. (V42:3221-25). The witness did not know whether the gun was also hidden in the ceiling. Even if Appellant's statements were not introduced, the jury would have still undoubtedly convicted Appellant of the four murders given the substantial circumstantial evidence introduced by the State. Because there is no reasonably possibility that the admission of Appellant's statements to agent Ray contributed to the verdict given the other cumulative testimony, any error in admitting his statement was harmless.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AND DIVEST ITSELF OF JURISDICTION.

Appellant next claims that the trial court erred in denying his motions to dismiss the indictment and divest itself of jurisdiction based on his allegations that he was illegally kidnapped from Ecuador and brought back to the United States. Appellant filed a motion to dismiss prior to trial (V10:1284-1312), and after conducting a hearing on the motion, the trial court denied the motion. (V17:2296-97; V37:2558-82).

After Appellant was convicted of four counts of first degree murder, defense counsel filed an amended motion to dismiss the indictment and presented evidence from FDLE agent Tommy Ray and Claudio Mueckay, an ombudsman from the Republic of Ecuador. (V17-18:2260-66, 2371-2445). FDLE agent Tommy Ray testified that Ecuadorian National Police officers arrested Appellant in Ecuador, and after he was legally deported, the Ecuadorian police turned Appellant over to Florida law enforcement. (V17:2394-98). Ombudsman Mueckay testified that

Mueckay was not representing the government of Ecuador in an official capacity when he testified at the hearing, and he was unaware that the United States Department of State had informed Ecuador that if they wanted to have any involvement in Appellant's case, they needed to go through the embassy. (V18:2425-26).

³⁵ Contrary to Appellant's assertions, Ray testified that

he conducted an investigation regarding the events and concluded that Appellant held dual citizenship and was improperly deported. (V18:2411-14, 2434). After hearing the testimony and the argument of counsel, the trial court again denied Appellant's motion to dismiss the indictment. (V18:2459-60).

The State submits that Appellant's motion to dismiss was untimely filed under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(c), based on the grounds raised in the motion. R. Crim. P. 3.190(c) (stating that a motion to dismiss must be filed before or at arraignment, however, a court may entertain a motion at any time if based on any of the following grounds: charged with an offense for which he defendant pardoned, placed in jeopardy, or granted immunity or there are no disputed material facts and the undisputed facts do not establish a prima facie case of guilt against the defendant). Although the trial court did not base its denial of the motion on this ground, this Court has previously affirmed a trial court's ruling when correct for any reason. See generally Robertson v. State, 829 So. 2d 901, 906 (Fla. 2002) (The "tipsy coachman" doctrine allows an appellate court to affirm a trial court that "reached the right result, but for the wrong reasons"

Appellant was never housed in an animal cage, but rather, was housed in an office complex located at the police canine unit. (V17:2396-97).

so long as there is any basis which would support the judgment in the record). Alternatively, the State submits that the trial court properly denied the motions because Appellant's argument lacks merit.³⁶

In his brief, Appellant reasserts the allegations made below by trial counsel that Appellant has dual citizenship of both the United States and Ecuador, that he was illegally arrested and kidnapped by Ecuadorian police, physically abused during his brief detention and held in an animal cage, and ultimately unlawfully extradited to the United States. Contrary to Appellant's allegations, the State strongly disputes Appellant's representations. The evidence at the motion hearing and at trial established that Appellant was an American citizen who was arrested by Ecuadorian police and held overnight in an office. Appellant appeared before a Politico Attendente, or immigration judge, and was thereafter deported to the United States after a hearing.

As the trial court properly found, "[t]he Court's jurisdiction of the matter is not defeated by an assertion that there may have been an illegal procurement of the Defendant's presence in the jurisdiction. See United States v. Alvarez-

The standard of review for a trial court's order regarding a motion to dismiss is de novo. State v. Pasko, 815 So. 2d 680, 681 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

Machain, 504 U.S. 655, 112 S. Ct. 2188, 119 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1992); United States v. Arbane, 446 F.3d 1223 (11th Cir. 2006), and Grimes v. State, 244 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1971)." Furthermore, the court properly noted that Appellant failed to demonstrate that the government violated Appellant's constitutional rights in some manner that the holding in United States v. Toscanino, 500 F.2d 267 (2d Cir. 1974), might have some applicability to this matter. (V18:2460).

In United States v. Alvarez-Machain, 504 U.S. 655, 112 S. Ct. 2188 (1992), relied on by the lower court, the defendant, a Mexican citizen, was forcibly kidnapped from Mexico and flown to where he was arrested by the United States Drug Enforcement Agency. The defendant moved to dismiss indictment based on a violation of an extradition treaty between Mexico and the United States. Id. at 657-59. Given the formal protest by Mexico, the district court granted the motion and discharged the defendant and ordered that he be repatriated to Mexico. The United States Supreme Court reversed the decision and noted that, although the defendant's abduction may have been "shocking" and in violation of international law principles, his abduction did not violate the terms of the treaty and did not prohibit his trial in the United States. Id. at 669-70. also Frisbie v. Collins, 342 U.S. 519 (1952) (holding that the

power of a court to try a person for a crime is not impaired by the fact that the defendant had been brought within the court's jurisdiction by reason of a "forcible abduction"); Ker v. Illinois, 119 U.S. 436, 7 S. Ct. 225 (1886) (finding that due process of law is complied with when the defendant is indicted by the proper grand jury in the state trial court, has a trial according to the forms and modes prescribed for such trials, and when, in that trial and proceedings, he is deprived of no rights to which he is lawfully entitled); United States v. Matta, 937 F.2d 567 (11th Cir. 1991) (rejecting defendant's challenge that court lacked jurisdiction over him because he was illegally kidnapped from Honduras and tortured before being transported to the United States).

Unlike the facts in Alvarez-Machain, Appellant was a citizen of the United States when he was deported from Ecuador; he was not forcibly kidnapped, but was arrested by the Ecuadorian National Police and subsequently turned over to Florida law enforcement officials after his deportation hearing; and there was no evidence of any formal protest from the government of Ecuador at the time. Thus, the trial court properly refused to dismiss Appellant's indictment and divest itself of jurisdiction.

Furthermore, contrary to Appellant's assertion in his

brief, the extradition treaty between the United States and Ecuador is not dispositive. Appellant's reliance on this treaty is misplaced because Appellant was not extradited, but was deported after an immigration judge conducted a deportation hearing. (V52:4745-51). Additionally, as this Court noted in Maharaj v. State, 778 So. 2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000), the defendant failed to establish that he had standing to raise a violation of the Vienna Convention, because "treaties are between countries, not citizens." See also Lugo v. State, 2 So. 3d 1 (Fla. 2008) (finding no Vienna Convention violation where American citizen in Bahamas was sought by American officials for crimes committed in the United States). Because Appellant has failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his untimely motion to dismiss the indictment, this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON ALLEGEDLY IMPROPER COMMENTS BY THE PROSECUTOR.

Appellant next argues that the cumulative effect of prosecutorial misconduct denied him of a fair trial and penalty phase. Appellant complains of comments made by the prosecutor which trial counsel objected to and moved for a mistrial. Additionally, Appellant claims that unobjected-to comments should be considered by this Court in addressing the cumulative effect of the alleged misconduct.

In <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 970, 980 (Fla. 1999), this Court explained that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion and should not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion. "Discretion is abused only 'when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court.'" <u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000) (citing Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990)).

Regarding unobjected-to comments, this Court noted in <u>Card</u> v. <u>State</u>, 803 So. 2d 613, 622 (Fla. 2001), that a contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue surrounding a prosecutor's comments during closing argument.

This Court stated:

general rule, the failure to raise contemporaneous objection when improper closing argument comments are made waives any claim concerning such comments for appellate review. See, e.g., Brooks v. State, 762 So. 2d 879, 898 (Fla. 2000); McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999). A timely objection allows the trial court an opportunity to give a curative instruction or to admonish counsel for making an improper argument. See Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990). The exception to the rule contemporaneous objection is where the rise unobjected-to comments to the level fundamental error, which has been defined as error that reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty or jury recommendation of death could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. McDonald, 743 So. 2d at 505 (quoting Urbin, 714 So. 2d at 418 n.8); Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 n.5 (Fla. 1997) (holding that for an error to be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial).

In the instant case, Appellant points to a number of comments made by the prosecutor that defense counsel preserved by raising an objection. Appellant first asserts that the prosecutor improperly commented on Appellant's right to remain silent. During his opening statement, the prosecutor stated that, immediately after the murders, Appellant was located in Atlanta and was interviewed by detectives the next day. "The very next day is Mr. Serrano's opportunity to tell the police what happened at Erie Manufacturing." (V38:2707). Defense counsel objected on the grounds that the prosecutor had indirectly commented on Appellant's right to remain silent.

(V38:2707). The prosecutor explained that the comment was not improper because Appellant had actually made a statement to law enforcement. The trial court agreed and overruled the objection and denied Appellant's motion for mistrial. (V38:2707-10; V39:2841-48).

during opening statement, the prosecutor Also discussing inmate Leslie Jones' anticipated testimony and stated that Appellant had to "come up with a story" to explain his fingerprint on a parking ticket. (V38:2733). Appellant again objected and moved for mistrial arguing that the prosecutor's comment was an improper comment on Appellant's right to remain The prosecutor responded that Leslie Jones would testify at trial that Appellant told him he needed to come up with a way to deal with the fingerprint evidence. As such, the comment was not improper. The trial court overruled the denied Appellant's motion for objection and mistrial. (V38:2733-41).

Appellant also asserts that the prosecutor improperly commented on Appellant's right to remain silent when he asked FDLE Agent Tommy Ray if Appellant appeared before the grand jury. Defense counsel objected and moved for mistrial before the witness answered the question. (V49:4301-02). After hearing lengthy argument from the parties, the trial court

sustained the objection, denied Appellant's motion for mistrial, and gave the jury curative instructions requested by defense counsel. (V49:4302-42).

The State acknowledges that this Court has stated the "very rule" that "any comment on, or which is susceptible of being interpreted as referring to, a defendant's failure to testify is error and is strongly discouraged." Rodriguez v. State, 753 So. 2d 29, 37 (Fla. 2000). However, as noted in Rodriguez, this Court has attempted to distinction between impermissible comments on silence and permissible comments on the evidence. Id. In the instant case, the prosecutor's comments were not improper comments Appellant's right to remain silent. Appellant gave a statement to law enforcement officers immediately upon his return to Florida and the prosecutor properly stated in his opening that this was Appellant's first opportunity to tell law enforcement officers what had happened. See San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337 (Fla. 1997) (noting that because San Martin had already freely and voluntarily discussed the crime with law enforcement officers, his later refusal to commit his statement to tape was not an exercise of his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent). Additionally, the prosecutor's comments during opening statement regarding Leslie Jones' anticipated testimony were entirely proper given the fact that this was his actual trial testimony. At the trial, Jones testified that Appellant told him he needed to come up with a story to explain how his fingerprint was found on the parking ticket. (V57-58:5477-81). Finally, the prosecutor's question to agent Ray regarding Appellant appearing before the grand jury went unanswered and did not implicate Appellant's right to remain silent.

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